Shedding light on regret in migrant decision making: Insights from the Ethiopia-South Africa and Haiti-Brazil corridors



AUTHORS

Caterina Mazzilli, Research Officer at ODI; Carmen Leon-Himmelstine, Research Fellow at ODI; Jessica Hagen-Zanker, Senior Research Fellow at ODI











Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Charlot Jn Charles, Valner Didieus, Mélanie Montinard, Natália Guindani, Heloisa Melino, Richemond Dacilien, Ismane Desrosiers, and Danilo Sato for conducting the focus group discussions with Haitian migrants in Brazil. The authors also want to thank Ernest Casseus, Lilian de Senna, Luckner Guerrier, Mariela Dangervil, Raymond Francois, Alix Vladimir Bellagarde, Catiana Guillaume, Dady Simon, Dieumettre Jean, Reginald Pierre, Jean Raymond Exantus, Valner Diedus, Wisnel Joseph, and Stephat Pierre for conducting the interviews with Haitian migrants in Brazil.

In addition, the authors would like to thank Azwi Netshikulwe, Dr. Faisal Garba, Dr. Henrietta Nyamnjoh, Yordanos Seifu, and Bernice Boafo for conducting the interviews with Ethiopian migrants in South Africa.

The authors would also like to thank the reviewers, Amanda Gray Meral (ODI) and Julia Stier (WZB Berlin), for their time and contribution to this working paper.

Finally, the authors would like to thank Baindu Kallon (Coventry University) for copyediting this working paper.

Contents

AUTHORS	1
1. INTRODUCTION	4
2. REGRET IN THE MIGRATION LITERATURE	5
2.1 SITUATING REGRET IN THE STUDY OF SUBJECTIV	E FACTORS
UNDERLYING MIGRATION DECISION-MAKING	5
2.2 FINDINGS FROM THE LITERATURE	7
2.2.1 EXPECTATIONS AND REGRET	8
2.2.2 FEELINGS AND REGRET	9
2.2.3 MATERIAL FACTORS AND REGRET	10
3. CONTEXT AND METHODOLOGY	11
3.1 CONTEXT OF RESEARCH	11
3.1.1 MIDEQ	11
3.1.2 ETHIOPIAN MIGRATION TO SOUTH AFRICA	12
3.1.3 HAITAIN MIGRATION TO BRAZIL	13
3.2 METHODOLOGY	15
3.2.1 DATA	15
3.2.2 THE ANALYSIS	17
4. FINDINGS	19
4.1 SUBJECTIVE ELEMENTS OF REGRET	19
4.2 MATERIAL ELEMENTS OF REGRET	26
5. CONCLUSIONS	29
REFERENCES	33

1. INTRODUCTION

Regret is a feeling that all people, including migrants, commonly experience. Nevertheless, this topic is still underexplored in migration studies, and we posit that this happens for a number of reasons. First and foremost, this takes place because of narratives around migration and success, which pressure migrants into ticking all the boxes of a 'successful migration' such as owning a house or sending remittances. Second, migration is such a sizeable material and emotional investment that acting upon regret, for instance by returning, signifies not only the loss of the investment but also of other potential opportunities (Hernández-Carretero and Carling, 2012; Limbu, 2023). And third, migrants' expressions of regret are stigmatized and labelled not only as 'migration failure', but also as an ungrateful attitude towards the country of destination. Migration scholarship and literature has in many ways reflected the suppression and stigmatisation of this topic, though the evidence base has grown in recent years as we show.

Yet regret exists: our study has uncovered the existence of this feeling in the migration trajectory of some migrants. To understand it well, we asked: what subjective and material elements inform regret in migration decision-making? We believe that bringing it to the fore means we can demystify success narratives and stop dehumanising or infantilising migrants, conceiving them as complex human beings rather than unappreciative or simple abstract characters. Moreover, feeling regret, as unpleasant as it could be, comes from a person's agency and capability to take and evaluate their own decisions. It links to wider discussions on the need to acknowledge migrants' agency, which always exists, although at times in restricted circumstances (Bivand Erdal and Oeppen, 2017; de Regt and Mihret, 2020).

We also consider it important to normalise regret in migration decision-making because migration is not a linear trajectory. In fact, some people might regret migrating but stay in the destination country nonetheless, while some people might regret one aspect of their migration experience and be content with the decision in other aspects of their lives. Yet, migration policies and programmes operate according to a double standard when it comes to Global South migrants' decision-making. For instance, IOM campaigns raising awareness on the risks of migration hint at regret when sharing the stories of returnees (see IOM, 2023). Even though we acknowledge the relevance of awareness-raising, an approach centred on personal stories risk ignoring the structural conditions in the countries of origin that push people to (aspire to) migrate. Therefore, we hope this paper contributes to normalise the feeling of regret in *anyone's* migration, without translating it into a prescription not to migrate.

In fact, with this research we point at regret not only as an individually-felt emotion in response to lived experiences, but also as the by-product of structural political and economic dynamics that place migrants in extremely precarious positions – and undocumented ones even more so. On the one hand, migration policies are becoming more restrictive across the world, thus giving way to dangerous irregular journeys as the only remaining alternative, while on the other hand, neoliberal labour markets profit on the exploitation of workers, such as migrants, with little bargaining power or rights protection. This context may lead to feelings of regret amongst migrants, although not necessarily about the decision to migrate itself as much as about the conditions under which they were forced to migrate and the precarious work conditions they found in their new destinations.

This article is grounded on qualitative data from the Ethiopia-South Africa and Haiti-Brazil migration corridors, collected as part of the MIDEQ project on South-South Migration and Inequality by researchers from the University of Cape Town, South Africa, and the Instituto Maria e João Aleixo (IMJA), Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. The interviews were not designed to focus on regret, but rather on various project themes¹, including migration decision-making. However, regret came out as a theme in many of the interviews and the authors pulled the data together to form this paper.

For the sake of transparency, we clarify this is not a psychology research project. Thus, the interviews by our colleagues in South Africa and Brazil were not conducted in a clinical setting, nor was it possible to ensure that all migrants were in the same mindset at the time of the interview. We hope however, that it stimulates discussion and that similar and more rigorous research on the topic can be conducted in the future.

This article is situated in the growing literature on subjective factors in migration decision-making, which we discuss in the next section. Building on the classification proposed by Hagen-Zanker, Mazzilli and Hennessey (2023), we explore regret as a feeling informed by both subjective and tangible elements.

2. REGRET IN THE MIGRATION LITERATURE

2.1 SITUATING REGRET IN THE STUDY OF SUBJECTIVE FACTORS UNDERLYING MIGRATION DECISION-MAKING

Research on migration decision-making has greatly expanded over the decades, not just in terms of the number of studies dedicated to this topic, but also – and crucially for this article – with respect to the elements considered relevant for the decision-making process. The literature tended to ascribe migrants' decisions to either rational cost-benefit calculations (functionalist approach), or to the effect of

¹ We provide the complete list in the methodology section.

ungovernable circumstances (historical-structuralist approach). However, more recently, scholarship also acknowledges the importance of subjective elements such as imagination, personality traits, emotions and feelings, and beliefs and values (Hagen-Zanker and Hennessey, 2021; Hagen-Zanker, Mazzilli and Hennessey, 2023).

These subjective elements work not in opposition to the functionalist or historical-structuralist approaches, but rather *in addition* to them, as they add layers of complexity and realism to, for instance, the understanding of someone's individual cost-benefit calculation on migration (Boccagni and Baldassar, 2015; Khan, 2018). In the findings section, we will see how material and subjective considerations overlap, but sometimes also clash, when Ethiopians in South Africa and Haitians in Brazil reflect on their migration choices. For instance, despite the greater profitability of running a business in South Africa, emotional components such as longing for someone's family or fear for the violent environment in the country of destination, weigh considerably in the participants' feeling of regret (see also Mixed Migration Centre (MMC), 2023).

Yet emotions and feelings work in manifold ways, as they are not only mediated by circumstances, but also by meso-level factors such as a group culture (Kalir, 2005; Ryo, 2013). For example, some popular Haitians songs describe Haitians as 'responsible for their own survival' – a feeling and value that often translates into migration, alongside the structural constrains reproducing poverty and inequality (Cela *et al.*, 2022). As we will see, despite the hardships Haitians experience due to their working conditions and low salaries in Brazil, they conceive migration as a survival strategy and a better option than staying in Haiti.

Some of the emotions and feelings most frequently analysed in the migration literature are hope (Ransan-Cooper, 2015; Hernández-Carretero, 2016; Kuschminder, Andersson and Siegel, 2017; Grabska, 2020); shame (Constable, 2014; Chan, 2018; Bredeloup, 2019), jealousy (Feyissa, Hagen-Zanker and Mazzilli, 2024), fear (Tucker *et al.*, 2013), love (Mai and King, 2009; Assunção, 2016), and attachment to either people or places (Schewel, 2020)². This working paper turns the spotlight on regret, a feeling which is increasingly explored in migration research, although usually more as a secondary element than as the specific focus of a study. One definition of regret that we will build on in this article is as follows:

"Psychology defines regret 'as a feeling in which emotional aspects (sadness, sometimes anger, shame, or uneasiness) and cognitive aspects (evaluation of not having acted as one should) interact. Regret can occur either because of an action or because of the lack thereof: for having done

² For a thorough review of these studies and additional references, please see Hagen-Zanker and Hennessey (2021) and Hagen-Zanker, Mazzilli and Hennessey (2023).

something that should not have been done, or, conversely, for not having done what should have been done" (André, 2006: 28, cited in Bendaoued, Navas and González-Martín, 2016:194).

We argue in this paper that regret is a feeling informed by both material and other subjective factors, including cognitive aspects, though we are unable to explore the cognitive aspects in depth due to our research design. We also attempt to show that although regret is by no means always present, it is more common across some migrant populations than what might be commonly assumed. Before proceeding, it is essential to say that we approach the presence of regret in the participants' stories with no judgement on what they should or should not feel. On the contrary, we find that unpacking the variety of feelings experienced by migrants throughout their trajectory highlights that they are not an abstract 'category' but rather just people with their own complex and ever-mutable set of feelings and thoughts.

2.2 FINDINGS FROM THE LITERATURE

We conducted a rigorous literature search based on two main keywords, 'migration' and 'regret'. We conducted our searches in English, Spanish, Portuguese, and Italian in order to capture the broadest possible range of studies³ while at the same time minimising the English language bias⁴. We then scanned the retrieved articles and included them in our review, if thematically relevant. We also searched the internet for non-academic material on migration and regret and found a small selection of forum entries and blog posts on the topic, which complemented the scholarly literature. These are also included in our analysis, given the nascent nature of this topic. The geographical scope of this review extends over most of the world, although overall African and Asian countries are better represented.

In our extensive searches, we only found one article on migration decision-making including 'regret' in the title, that is Knausenberger et al.'s 2023 article 'Refugees' and non-refugee migrants' regret about migration and confidence in integration: The role of forcedness and perils before and during migration'. Their research considers the role of forcedness and perils encountered before and during migration in triggering feelings of regret and/or hope for integration in the society of destination, concluding that "perils encountered during migration increased regret about having migrated when perceived forcedness was low" (Knausenberger *et al.*, 2022:535).

-

³ The search in Italian did not produce any result.

⁴ Future research could expand on the linguistic range, for instance including French – which was not possible to include due to practical constraints, but also some of the languages spoken by migrants across the world, such as (for this case) Amharic or Creole. Research should also expand on the type of literature covered, including for instance novels and poems, where these languages might be more represented.

At the same time, we identified several other studies that touch upon regret as a secondary point when discussing mental representations of migration (Field, Meyer and Swanson, 2010; Tyldum, 2021), aspirations (Czaika and Vothknecht, 2014; Belloni, 2021), expectations (Mehari and Kaneko, 2022), economic prospects (Czaika, 2015; Steiner, 2019), or return/onward migration options (Sabharwal and Varma, 2016). We now discuss this literature further.

2.2.1 EXPECTATIONS AND REGRET

The literature shows the multiplicity of reasons regret could be triggered by. One of the perhaps most evident causes is the often-stark contrast between the future imagined before the onset of migration, often influenced by word of mouth⁵, and the reality encountered in the process and at destination – which, as we will see, is also a cause of regret for Ethiopian migrants in South Africa and for some Haitians migrating in Brazil.

For instance, in the case of Senegalese migrants to Argentina explored by Kleidermacher (2016), disappointment – and disenchantment – is caused by the difficulty of their insertion in the local labour market. This means they not only lead a different life from what they had imagined but also perceive the possibility of return as distant - thus feeling regret for the decision they have taken. Hernández-Carretero and Carling (2012) reflect on the costs of return as well. Return represents "the loss of a significant investment" (Hernández-Carretero and Carling, 2012:410), since migrants finance their journey by selling personal and/or family assets, or by borrowing money. Return also entails the social cost of 'failing' the migration project (Hernández-Carretero and Carling, 2012; Field, Meyer and Swanson, 2010). As such, migration is imbued with ambivalent feelings, among which is regret. It is key to mention that regret for the entire or some aspects of migration is not necessarily always correlated with a 'failure' in economic terms – as we will see in the next section. Crucially, one of the migrants interviewed by Hernández-Carretero and Carling (2012) brought up his regret not to have migrated when his peers had left – thus showing that regret can refer to different aspects of migration decision-making, including timing.

Other studies have observed that migrants experienced a loss of social status with migration, leading to feelings of frustration or worsening mental health. For example, Costa et al. (2020) reported that asylum seekers and refugees in Germany compare their situation before and after migration, and that their perceived downward social status led to a higher probability to present anxiety and depressive

⁵ 40 years ago, Thomas-Hope, (1980) described the formation process of West Indians' expectations around their future overseas. She claims that hopes surrounding migration are constructed by a convergence of, on the one side, real information received about the destination country, and, on the other side, preconceptions.

symptoms. Moving closer to our own data, Joseph (2015) discusses how Haitian women in Brazil experience frustration and disappointment when they perceived a loss in their social status after migration. While in Haiti or the Dominican Republic they were considered "successful women", with maids at home, in Brazil they became domestic workers themselves. For instance, one migrant woman in the study expressed regret because the only jobs that were available for her were in the cleaning sector rather than in hotel management, the sector she was qualified and expected to find a job in. Similarly, Moroccan women in the study by Bendaoued, Navas and González-Martín (2016) expressed regretting the loss of their social status resulting from their migration to Spain. Again, it relates to the type of work they did there: in Morocco they owned their own business, worked at office jobs or were students, while in Spain they only found work in the cleaning or agriculture sectors.

The perception of lost opportunities emerges quite often in the analysis of more cognitive aspects of regret. For instance, Limbu (2023) studies Nepali migrants' desires for to their migration to the Gulf countries, and how they are reflected in the tangible outcomes of their migration. The gap between someone's real versus ideal self as generating regret has been mainly explored by the psychology literature. For instance, Davidai and Gilovich (2018) talk about the "ideal road not taken", explaining that people's most enduring regrets are those connected to what they 'could have been if'. Circling this analysis back to migration allows us to understand that cognitive factors informing regret are long-lasting because imagination enhances them. Alternative scenarios about 'what could (have) happened if' can almost torment people after their migration has taken place (see also Maphosa and Morojele, 2013; Jolaoso and Olajimbiti, 2021).

2.2.2 FEELINGS AND REGRET

Speculations about an alternative course of events, as well as worries and uncertainties about the future shape feelings of regret. In her research on African migrants' experiences of Europe's security measures, Sumari (2020) reports that asylum seekers in Cyprus expressed regret for having migrated when they were facing the bureaucratic complications of the asylum process and harsh treatment by European border forces. In general, worries and anger at their situation were compounded by regretful feelings about having left. Many respondents stressed their love for Africa and "how they would have never come if they had known the reality in Europe" (p. 11) – which matches many accounts by Ethiopian migrants in South Africa, as we see below.

Tyldum (2021) discusses Syrian refugees in Jordan and Lebanon and their thoughts about onward migration to Europe. She sheds light on the importance her interviewees place on interpersonal connections, proximity to their family and community network, and on feelings such as their fear of loneliness when

considering re-migrating to a Western context. Tyldum (2021) writes that, according to two young men she interviewed in Lebanon, those who migrated to Europe might now regret having done so because their new friendships and relations could never replace those they had before. At the same time, however, the two participants were attracted by the prospect of economic security in Europe, admitting they regretted not having migrated themselves. This article clearly shows that "positive and negative regrets"⁶, as defined by Jolaoso and Olajimbiti (2021, see also Bendaoued, Navas and González-Martín, 2016) overlap continuously and sometimes seemingly incongruously – as they are reflecting the complexity of human thoughts and feelings.

2.2.3 MATERIAL FACTORS AND REGRET

Several studies on migration and return also point at material reasons causing migrants' sadness, distress, and regret. As noted above, material factors overlap with cognitive elements and feelings. One example is found in the literature exploring Haitian migration to Brazil where the poor working conditions and occasional situations of homelessness led Haitians to regret having migrated to Brazil and to mourn their inability to return (Miura, 2014:161).

Another study by Kwankye et al. (2009) studied young people's (10 to 24 years old) independent internal migration in Ghana. While not all young migrants in Accra and Kumasi regretted migrating because it allowed them to find a job, learn a trade, or save some money, nearly half (45%) of the young migrants interviewed in Accra and almost a quarter (23%) of those interviewed in Kumasi *did* regret migrating. "Those who reported regretting their migration were critical about their living and working conditions. Amongst other reasons provided by these migrants were: not making as much money as anticipated; financial problems; no job; difficult work; unsatisfactory income and general hardship in their present location elements" (Kwankye et al., 2009:29).

A study by Nyberg Sørensen (2006) attributes regret to the costs migrants incurred in financing their journey. Reporting the accounts of sub-Saharan African migrants stuck in Morocco on their intended journey to Europe, Nyberg Sørensen (2006) writes, "Regrets at the spiralling costs were frequently expressed, especially since none of the migrants interviewed had yet reached their final goal, and some of them had been in Morocco for longer than a year" (p. 136). Further, Imoagene (2017) explored the impact of migration to the US on the life of Ghanaian and

_

⁶ Jolaoso and Olajimbiti (2021) defined positive regret as "a cognitive phenomenon, a way of expressing a truth eloquently asserted as relief over dissatisfaction experiences" (p. 517), while they describe negative regret as "constructed when an individual expresses feelings of sadness or sorrow about something beyond his control and wished it had not happened. It relates to a scenario that may warrant a person to express value judgment by comparing actions, situations, or circumstances" (p. 520).

Nigerian Diversity Visa winners. She reports that, amongst those respondents who stated regretting having migrated, one man attributed the cause of his regret to not having been able to obtain his degree and working in an underpaid job. This finding also applied more generally to other participants who left for the US before completing their university education and were unable to continue it there (ibid).

Field et al.'s (2010) discussion of Nigerian migrants' experiences in Cape Town, South Africa touches upon similar points. Material factors such as unemployment, the unaffordability of decent housing or not having a dignified quality of life, lies at the core of the participants' regret for having migrated (see also Akintola and Akintola, 2015; Driessen, 2016), together with the social stigma faced by many Nigerians in South Africa. Although their regret is grounded in material reasons, the participants in the study also regretted their decision because of cognitive reasons, namely the crumbling of their pre-migration expectations – which demonstrates that material and subjective elements exist simultaneously. One interviewee powerfully stated, "You know, from the first time that I came here, I regret this country because you know what I think is not what I see" (p. 104).

Some literature also identifies considerations of regret specifically by female migrants. For example, female Mexican migrants living in the US voiced sadness, concerns and, at times, regret when their children stayed back, even though the material situation of their children improved with the remittances the mothers had sent (Dreby, 2010). Similarly, women can also experience feelings of sadness when they are not able to contribute as they would like to the expenses of their families, as observed among Haitian women who migrated to Brazil (Mejía and Cazarotto, 2017). Missing or longing for family members in the homeland was observed as an important element informing regret for Moroccan migrant women in the study by Bendaoued, Navas and González-Martín, (2016). Migrant women in their study regretted missing not only the close contact with their relatives but also important family events such as birthdays, weddings, and funerals.

3. CONTEXT AND METHODOLOGY

3.1 CONTEXT OF RESEARCH

3.1.1 MIDEQ

The interviews at the centre of this article were conducted as part of the Migration for Development and Equality (MIDEQ) project, which aims to unpack the complex and multi-dimensional relationships between migration and inequality in the

context of the Global South. MIDEQ explores 10 thematic areas⁷ within the context of migration, situating data collection and analysis along six migration corridors: Burkina Faso – Côte d'Ivoire, China – Ghana, Egypt – Jordan, Ethiopia – South Africa, Haiti – Brazil, and Nepal – Malaysia. This working paper draws on data collected for two of the corridors, with Ethiopian migrants in South Africa and with Haitian migrants in Brazil.

3.1.2 ETHIOPIAN MIGRATION TO SOUTH AFRICA

Migration from Ethiopia to South Africa started in the 1990s, although at that time migrants were few and far between, as national laws both in Ethiopia and in South Africa were very restrictive regarding emigration and immigration alike. On the one hand, until the end of the Derg military rule, Ethiopians needed an exit visa to leave the country, which was notoriously difficult to obtain. The policy reform issued by the Ethiopian People's Revolutionary Democratic Front (EPRDF) in 1991 sensibly expanded Ethiopians' freedom of movement, enshrining it in the constitution. On the other hand, during the apartheid rule, South Africa's borders were practically impenetrable for citizens of other African countries. This regime was relaxed only after the end of apartheid in 1994, when the African National Congress (ANC) was elected ruling party (Feyissa, Hagen-Zanker, and Mazzilli, 2024).

Scholars closely working on this migration corridor (Feyissa, 2022; Feyissa and Garba, n.d.; Feyissa, Hagen-Zanker and Mazzilli, 2024) take 2001 as the informal start of an intense flux of Ethiopians to South Africa. It was in 2001 that Canadian pastor Peter Younger gave a prophecy in Hosaena, one of the major cities of the Hadiya⁸ zone in Southern Ethiopia. In his prophecy, Younger talked about having seen "a route to the South", which would "bring prosperity to the Hadiya" (Feyissa, Hagen-Zanker and Mazzilli, 2024). At the time, some Ethiopians already lived in South Africa, who had been able to accumulate wealth relatively quickly thanks to a positive economic conjuncture. As such, people interpreted the prophecy as a blessing of the migration journey to South Africa.

To this day, Ethiopians are amongst the most-represented nationalities in South Africa, mainly living in big cities with active economies – such as Cape Town, Johannesburg, Port Elizabeth, East London, and Georgetown. Statista (2023) reports that, in 2020, Ethiopians regularly residing in South Africa were just over 44,000. Undocumented migrants are not included in this count, which means the overall figure is much higher (Zewdu, 2018). Not only is their migration journey long

_

⁷ The thematic areas are: 1) gender inequalities, 2) childhood inequalities, 3) poverty and income inequalities, 4) migrant perception, knowledge, and decision-making, 5) migration intermediaries, 6) resource flows, 7) political mobilization and transnational solidarity, 8) access to justice, 9) digital technologies and inequality, and 10) arts, creative resistance, and wellbeing.

⁸ The term Hadiya refers to both an administrative zone in the South-West of Ethiopia and to the population that inhabits it.

and dangerous, but also life in South Africa is extremely vulnerable. Ethiopian migrants embark on a 10.000 kilometres-long journey that stretches across multiple state borders. Those travelling irregularly do so over land, by bus, car, or even on foot, relying on brokers to whom they pay exorbitant fees. Yet these fees do not always protect them from dangers: virtually every account that we analysed included experiences of being stopped by border police along the way and sometimes imprisoned, even for years, together with testimonies of physical threats and starvation. Once at destination, Ethiopians take up physically demanding jobs while facing the xenophobia and violence that characterises much of the South African context.

The overwhelming majority of Ethiopian migrants in South Africa work in informal retail trade (Yimer, 2012; Estifanos and Zack, 2020; Estifanos and Freeman, 2022), and their stories tend to follow a well-established path. The newly-arrived commonly start working as door-to-door vendors, then after a while become borders - or shopkeepers, in small informal convenience stores called spaza shops. After saving for some time, borders usually get into a partnership with a family member, a friend, or another member of the diaspora, or ask them for an informal loan to open their own shop. Other research within the framework of MIDEQ has explored the reasons behind such a risky migration: Feyissa, Hagen-Zanker and Mazzilli (2024) have explored the relevance of spirituality, social norms, and feelings such as emulative jealousy in Ethiopian migration to South Africa, while Mazzilli, Garba and Hagen-Zanker (2023) have analysed the allure of South Africa as a place where it is deemed possible to "become someone". Yet the negative components of this migration have been somehow overlooked so far, perhaps involuntarily reinforcing a partial narrative which describes migration as the aspiration of virtually all Africans (see Landau, 2019). With this article and its focus on regret, we thus aim at rebalancing our understanding of this migration in particular and of migration decision-making more in general.

3.1.3 HAITAIN MIGRATION TO BRAZIL

Despite a long tradition of Haitian migration to other countries (the US, France, Canada, the Dominican Republic, French Guyana), following the 2010 earthquake, Brazil rapidly became a popular destination for migrants leaving Haiti (Interuniversity Institute for Research and Development (INURED), 2020; Muraro *et al.*, 2023; Queiroz Telmo Romano and Pizzinato, 2021). This happened for several reasons. Although other countries in the region began offering humanitarian visas to Haitians as a relief measure during the post-earthquake years (Argentina, Chile, Ecuador, and Peru), Brazil was the only country to openly announce its welcoming migration policies. President Lula indeed invited Haitians to emigrate to Brazil during his visit to Haiti a month after the earthquake (Mejía and Cazarotto, 2017). In 2012, the Brazilian government began granting humanitarian visas for Haitians to regularise

their status. Subsequently, the 2017 Migration Law guaranteed the right to a family reunion and accepted the humanitarian reception principle as the foundation for granting visas and permits to enter Brazilian territory⁹ (Dacilien and Melino, forthcoming).

Furthermore, Brazil's image of a prosperous country was reinforced by its leadership role in the United Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH), lasting from 2004 to 2017, including during the 2010 earthquake (Cazarotto and Mejía, 2017; Guindani *et al.*, 2024; Landry, 2018). The 2014 Football World Cup and the 2016 Olympic games, hosted in Brazil, also contributed to an image of a country that was economically booming, with increasing labour opportunities for locals and migrants that were indeed publicised by the Brazilian government (Guindani *et al.*, 2024; Muraro *et al.*, 2023; Yates, 2021). Simultaneously, migration restrictions for Haitians in the Dominican Republic, and in other traditional destinations for Haitian migration (the US, Canada, and France) also played an important role in tracing a new migration trajectory (Landry, 2018). Over 161,000 Haitians settled or transited through Brazil between 2010 and June 2023 (Alto Comissaria do das Nações Unidas para Refugiado (ACNUR) Brasil, 2023). In 2021, the Haitian population was estimated to be around 143,000 (Yates, 2021).

Despite the image of Brazil as a country that was economically booming, the economy stagnated between 2014 and 2016, accompanied by political instability (Yates, 2021; Muraro *et al.*, 2023). Several Haitians already experienced challenging work conditions with long working hours and lower wages compared to Brazilians, which were exacerbated by the economic and political crises, followed by the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, the 2018 election of former President Jair Bolsonaro (a conservative former military officer), influenced racism and growing xenophobic sentiments against migrants. All these events contextualise the accounts and experiences described by our Haitian participants during their interviews and focus groups.

Initially, Haitians began entering the country mainly by land, through Acre State. With the humanitarian visa, Haitians began entering through São Paulo city to then

9 Haitians benefit from two main programmes that aim to promote regular migration: 1) the Family

intends to make it easier for stateless individuals and Haitian nationals with familial ties in Brazil to get a temporary visa for the purpose of family reunion, as allowed by the 2017 Migration Law (Ministério das Relações Exteriores and Ministério da Justiça e Segurança Pública, 2023).

Reunification Visa Programme (VITEM XI), targeting specific relatives (e.g. spouses, children, grandchildren, parents, siblings) of a Haitian with a resident permit living in Brazil (Ministério das Relações Exteriores, 2023) and; 2) the Humanitarian Visa programme (VITEM III) for Haitians and nationals from other countries (Afghanistan, Syria, and Ukraine) who have been experiencing serious instability, armed conflict, disaster or human rights violations. VITEM III grants residency initially for two years, with the possibility to obtain permanent residency. This programme also grants access to educational and labour opportunities in the country (Muraro *et al.*, 2023). However, the VITEM III programme expires in December 2024 (Ministério da Justiça e Segurança Pública/Gabinete do Ministro, 2023). Interministerial Ordinance MJSP/MRE No. 38, which was released in April 2023,

move to smaller municipalities where work is available (David, Rizzotto and Gouvêa, 2023). According to the Observatório das Migrações Internacionais, Haitian migrants are concentrated in the cities of São Paulo, Paraná, Santa Catarina and Rio Grande do Sul (Observatório das Migrações Internacionais (OBMigra), 2017). While men are employed mainly in the construction, mechanics, the wholesale sector, or the meat processing industries (poultry and pig slaughtering), women are employed in the poultry slaughtering industry, food services, cleaning services and the healthcare industry (Observatório das Migrações Internacionais (OBMigra), 2017; Landry, 2018; Leão *et al.*, 2018).

Some studies have shown that, despite many Haitians have a high level of education, they do not usually find employment in the areas of their training (Handerson and Joseph, 2015; Dacilien and Melino, forthcoming). Additionally, the opportunities available to Haitian women in the labour market are further restricted by the racial hierarchies that currently exist in Brazil and link black or darker women to domestic work (Interuniversity Institute for Research and Development (INURED), 2020). These data should not be read as context-specific, but rather as part of the wider body of literature on racial capitalism, which argues that the very structure of capitalist markets has grown and prospered owing to the differential exploitation of people according to their intersecting social dimensions (i.e., race, class, and gender)¹⁰. As such, and as already highlighted in the introduction, it is worth asking whether regret at the material conditions of life at destination emerging from this and other studies relate to individual life trajectories or rather to the underlying capitalist dynamics that push migrants and women "to the margins" (Netshikulwe, Nyamnjoh and Garba, 2022).

3.2 METHODOLOGY

3.2.1 DATA

ETHIOPIA-SOUTH AFRICA

For this corridor, we analysed a total of 67 interviews with Ethiopian migrants, some of whom were in South Africa while others had already returned to Ethiopia. The interviews covered topics relating to three different thematic areas: 'childhood inequalities' (12 interviews), 'poverty and income inequality' (18 interviews), and

_

¹⁰ Bhattacharyya (2018) explains that racial capitalism is "a way of understanding the role of racism in enabling key moments of capitalist development" – such as for instance a reading of the Industrial Revolution as grounding on the exploitation of the goods and populations of the colonies. Further, Melamed (2015) describes racial capitalism as the technology producing that "social separateness [...] needed for capitalist expropriation to work", which can be gauged, by means of example, in the prospering of global cities thanks to the often irregular work of racialised citizens and migrants.

'resource flows' (47 interviews), though migration decision-making and regret came up organically.

The in-depth, semi-structured interviews were conducted by MIDEQ partners from the University of Cape Town in the South African cities of Cape Town (including a group interview conducted in the suburb of Belville), East London, Georgetown, Hermanus, Johannesburg, and Port Elizabeth, and in the city of Hosana in Ethiopia¹¹. Apart from two women, one of whom was interviewed together with her husband, the other participants were all male. Their age, although not always captured, varied greatly, and was reflected in the length of their stay in South Africa, which ranged between three and 35 years. The participants held different professions, although the vast majority were small entrepreneurs owning one or a couple of *spaza shops*, often in partnership with a friend or a family member. Other professions reported were cafeteria and clothing shop owner, NGO employee, church deacon, customer care employee, kindergarten teacher, door-to-door vendor, handyman, and translator.

Even though there is some degree of variation amongst the participants' background, as some come from wealthier families living in Ethiopian urban centres and others from poorer and rural towns, their education levels are fairly similar. Most participants dropped out of school after grade 8 or 10, but there are a few exceptions on either side of the spectrum, as one participant dropped out of school after grade 6 and two others did so after grade 12, after fully completing their secondary education. The most common reasons for leaving education are either failing the exam needed to progress to the year ahead (especially for those who left after grade 10, which marks the end of the first cycle of high school) or simply prioritising the migration to South Africa. It was not possible to establish patterns between family background, dropout year, and reasons based on the collected data.

The demographic composition of the sample is in line with existing studies, such as the information collected along the 'Southern route^{12'} by the Mixed Migration Centre's 4Mi survey (Mixed Migration Centre (MMC), 2023), which shows that over half of African migrants to South Africa have completed secondary education (p. 5). Even though it might be assumed that young men from wealthier families migrate later when they complete higher levels of education, recent literature (Feyissa, 2022; Feyissa, Hagen-Zanker and Mazzilli, 2024) has uncovered the perceived urgency migration is imbued with, which transcends age and economic factors.

HAITI-BRAZIL

www.mideq.org | MIDEQ South-South Migration Hub

¹¹ Here the team also included two focus groups with return migrants.

¹² The MMC defines the Southern route as the multiplicity of migration "journeys running from East and the Horn of Africa, as well as the Great Lakes region, to South Africa."

In the case of the Haiti-Brazil corridor, we analysed a total of 65 interviews collected in 2021. They were in the form of full transcripts or summaries prepared by the Brazil country team. The semi-structured, in-depth interviews covered the topics of five thematic areas: 'migrants' perception, knowledge, and decision-making' (25 interviews), 'gender inequalities' (20 interviews), racial issues (20 interviews), 'digital technology and inequalities' (16 interviews), and 'migration intermediaries' (16 interviews).

The interviews were conducted by the MIDEQ partners of IMJA in the cities of Porto Velho, Rio de Janeiro, São Paulo, Braço do Norte and Foz do Iguaçu. Most interviewees arrived between 2010 and 2020, with only one man who arrived in 2008. The interviews were comprised of 44 men and 21 women. Most participants were in their late twenties and thirties, but there were also those in their forties and fifties, with an average age of 33 years old. The participants held different professions, although we observed these were gendered. For instance, some female participants worked as nurses or in the cleaning sector while male participants worked in construction or as drivers (see also Leon-Himmelstine et al.,2024).

Most participants had achieved high levels of education including some years of high school (20), university (13), and post-graduate education (2), and nine participants did not specify their education level. While the economic background of interviewees back in Haiti was not asked, once in Brazil there was an almost equal distribution of those living in favelas/peripherical areas (31) and those living in middle class neighbourhoods (34). The average salary of the 65 participants was R\$1,870.00 (USD\$368.39).

The coding of the Haiti-Brazil corridor interviews showed that none of the participants explicitly mentioned 'regret' nor similar feelings such as 'frustration' or 'failure'. However, some interviewees spoke about the 'disadvantages' of living in Brazil, which mostly were due to the mismatch between the material elements of what they *imagined* about Brazil (becoming well-off) and their reality (inability to pay bills, jobs that did not match their skills, difficulties in sending remittances back to Haiti). They still remained mindful that their economic situation and wellbeing improved both in absolute terms and if compared to their lives back in Haiti.

3.2.2 THE ANALYSIS

We analysed the interviews with the qualitative analysis software MAXQDA (for the Ethiopia-South Africa interviews) and manual coding using Excel (for the Haiti-Brazil interviews)¹³. To do so, we inductively created a coding structure including the

-

¹³ The differences in the analysis method are due to some setbacks experienced with MAXQDA when trying to code the Haiti-Brazil interviews.

following labels¹⁴: information available pre-migration, aspirations and expectations, regret, consequences of regret, and coping strategies. Under regret, we created the following sub-labels: material considerations around migration, cognitive/narrative aspects of regret (imagination), connected feelings (guilt, shame, sadness). After coding, we matched the coded segments to the research question at the core of this study ('What informs regret in migration decision-making?'), pinning down patterns, similarities, and differences.

In the analysis, we grouped the results under the two categories with the most data: 'subjective elements of regret' and 'material elements of regret'. The former included data discussing both emotions and feelings (such as sadness, shame, or longing) and cognitive elements (narratives, imagination, reflections, or worries¹⁵). The latter comprised data referring to the tangible components of migration and migrants' life at destination, such as the main features of someone's job.

It is arguably difficult to establish a clearcut division between these categories, especially because cognitive elements sit on a continuum between emotions/feelings and material elements. Drawing on the classification by Hagen-Zanker, Mazzilli and Hennessey (2023), we decided to group emotions/feelings and cognitive elements together under the label 'subjective elements'. This allowed us to point at those elements that refer to individuals' own mental and emotional processes, which can be connected to, but are not the direct effect of, material conditions. For instance, we argue that the participants' accounts of the disappointment they felt once they realised what working conditions in South Africa and Brazil were like referred to both material and cognitive elements. In fact, not only Ethiopian migrants were subject to exploitative working conditions and living in a dangerous environment, but those conditions also stood in sharp contrast with the expectations on their future life they had before migrating.

An interesting aspect we observed in our analysis is the way that participants expressed feelings related to stress, unhappiness, powerlessness, or hopelessness quite openly during their interviews. These feelings are certainly important in the interviewees' daily life, which might explain why they talked about them. However, we do not know whether the relevance given to these feelings in the interviews stems from the interview providing a space to unload and disclose otherwise taboo emotions or whether the interviewees still held back a substantial number of details

-

¹⁴ Labels are also called nodes. The initial list included some nodes that were subsequently dropped because they did not capture the core of the discussion, such as for instance 'individual vs collective plans' or 'imitation as decision-making method'.

¹⁵ Although worry might come across as an emotional element, we decided to classify it as a cognitive one because worrying has a component of projecting oneself in future situations, thus is similar to imagining or visualising.

on their feelings. The latter could have happened if the interviewees had felt too proud or wary to admit their struggles, or if that had felt too painful.

It is key to note that the interviews did not focus on regret directly. Doing so might have provided a space for the participants to talk about this feeling without being constrained by social desirability. More generally, feminist literature has explored the conditions under which qualitative interviews can create a space "in which participants were invited to, and felt able to, narrate their personal experiences" (Birch and Miller, 2010:189). The questions, as well as interactions such as "spaces and endurance of silences, or supportive comments made in order to invite and allow disclosure" (Miller, 2017) can encourage participants to "disclose a sense of 'real' self". Reflecting on that literature, we posit that the rapport built during the MIDEQ interviews encouraged interviewees from both corridors to open up and discuss their regret or perceived disadvantages of their migration experience (e.g. in Brazil, Haitian researchers were closely involved in the data collection process), even when this involves sharing a narrative countering the mainstream one of success. However, we are aware that we do not know to what extent the participants ended up sharing their innermost thoughts and feelings with the interviewers. Finally, we used pseudonyms to protect the participants' anonymity, while removing any information that could have identified them.

4. FINDINGS

4.1 SUBJECTIVE ELEMENTS OF REGRET

EMOTIONAL ELEMENTS

The most frequent point raised by Ethiopian participants with regards to the subjective elements of regret was the perceived **impossibility to communicate** the hardships of migration to the family in Ethiopia, and the **frustration** this generated. One reason for this is that, generally, families in the country of origin find it hard to believe accounts that contradict the established narrative of migrants accessing easy economic success and a wealthy lifestyle in South Africa. When asked if his family knew about the reality of his daily life, ZAF037 replied,

'They don't know. Even if I tell them, they will not understand. They think that in South Africa, money rains from the sky. They don't know the hardship here.'

Other studies have demonstrated the power of well-established narratives: once widely reproduced and disseminated over time, they become like an axiom,

becoming difficult and at times illogical to disprove (Wetherell, Taylor and Yates, 2001).

Another explanation for why this message on the reality of migration proves to be so complex to convey might lie in what migrants themselves share. More generally, negative accounts of life in the country of destination can be perceived as a 'failure' of the migration project, thus preventing migrants from sharing those accounts because of pride or shame – or potentially driving them to regret having migrated. Success, and its counterpart failure, strongly influence migrants' aspiration and behaviour, but also social relations with their community of origin (Constable, 2014; Bredeloup, 2017).

Connected to the inability to communicate openly, some participants expressed resentment at their family members in Ethiopia who ask for remittances and spend the money sent seemingly carelessly, without either following the respondent's own preferences on how to spend or invest that money, nor appreciating the sacrifice that goes into earning it. Related to this, participants in Brazil observed they struggled to send remittances back to Haiti. Because family members often financed migration as a family strategy to improve the overall financial situation, migrants felt pressure to pay their debts or to fulfil their 'duty' to those back in Haiti. Other migrants expressed frustration, powerlessness, guilt, and anguish because of this situation, given that their relatives back in Haiti were expecting their economic support.

"The expectations towards people who migrate are [...] to help those who are there in Haiti. Yet, for those who migrated and are earning the minimum wage, it is very difficult to help someone who is in Haiti." (BRA12)

Crucially, frustration and resentment emerged alongside **longing for both one's homeland and loved ones**. When discussing these feelings, one participant expressed the tension between not wanting to leave their homeland and moving to a well-regarded place. ZAF029 explained it well when he said,

"No one wants to leave the place where he was born and grew up in. Even if you go to Europe to work, it wouldn't be as good as your birthplace."

Moreover, as already widely documented in the literature (Parreñas, 2005; Bendaoued, Navas and González-Martín, 2016; Zainal and Barlas, 2022), sadness, stress, longing, and sometimes fear tend to become more acute in times of holidays or special occasions, such as birthdays and anniversaries.

The feelings mentioned above do not always, nor necessarily, translate into regret of having migrated, but a strong connection emerged from the interviewees conducted with returnees in Hosana. Some indeed explained that the regret they felt about their conditions as migrants, compounded by the longing for their country and

family, triggered the decision to go back to Ethiopia. When they took this decision, they were well aware that they would not necessarily be able to establish a profitable business in Ethiopia, or at least not as profitable as in South Africa. However, emotions and feelings of safety were carefully weighted up vis-a-vis the material dimension (that is, the loss of a more stable economic situation) in the evaluation that preceded the return, and their importance was decisive. For instance, ZAF033 stated.

"I think it is better here [Ethiopia]. When I was there [South Africa], I had nothing to eat, and I was starved. If there was work all the time, I would prefer staying here. First of all, it's peaceful in here. Secondly, no one robs you and thirdly, your money is yours and no one would dare to take it from you."

Similar to what we identified in the Ethiopia-South Africa corridor, some Haitian migrants in Brazil expressed longing for both their homeland and loved ones, which at times triggered feelings of regret. Women felt particularly guilty and worried when they migrated with some of their children while others stayed back. This finding shows that while the decision to migrate to join someone's partner/family is very important, at times different types of relationships can compete with each other (Hagen-Zanker, Hennessey and Mazzilli, 2023). It also shows the strong feelings, like the sadness that Haitian women in Brazil can experience, when they find themselves unable to meet their family responsibilities, especially the needs of their children back in Haiti (see also Mejía and Cazarotto, 2017). As mentioned above, sadness and guilt do not necessarily transform into regret, although in some cases they do.

Most interviewees did not envision a possible return to Haiti, but they wished to at least visit their country to reunite with family members. Yet even visiting can be difficult because of bureaucratic and financial barriers, which is demonstrated by only one participant having returned to Haiti to visit family and friends. Accepting the inability to return is extremely painful, as these two participants shared.

"You bring with you a whole life created before, with memories of people, places, smells, tastes, moments that you know you will probably never relive again. So, I think the most complicated thing about being a migrant is this baggage of memories, of longings that you carry with you for a long time, and until you die. Because there are many people who migrate without the possibility of returning. Or even in their heads they already know that they will never return." (BRA09)

"I have never left my family to live in another country, another city and I miss them very much, I can't get this out of my heart...also, leaving my girlfriend in the country that I love so much...I haven't seen her for two years." (BRA62)

In addition to the points above, many interviewees discussed **feelings of desperation**, such as ZAF104, who claimed, "Before I returned my inner self was dead and I was a sad guy." Participants also felt **hopeless and powerless** against the challenges of life in South Africa, with one participant even recalling an attempted suicide.

In parallel to the point above, and somehow representing the flip side of regret, the Ethiopians who had already returned expressed **relief** at their current life in Ethiopia, chiefly motivating it with the higher degree of safety in their daily life. ZAF107 described this feeling as,

"In general I am happy because I returned to Ethiopia. I am gracious to God. I can work until midnight [keeping the doors open] and no one can touch me. In South Africa you even do not sleep properly. Now a new form of gangsters is emerging in South Africa. These gangsters collect 1000 rand/month in the name of protection. If you refuse to pay, they will kill you. The gangsters are not afraid of police officers, rather the police is afraid of them."

Coming back to the Brazil data, **insecurity**, although only mentioned by three participants, contributed to the disadvantages that interviewees perceived from migrating to Brazil. This element does not emerge as clearly in the interviews with Haitian migrants as in those with Ethiopians in South Africa – very likely because insecurity in Haiti is very high and so is the perception of relative safety in Brazil. These few interviews show a mismatch between expectations and reality – which we will discuss more in depth in the next section – given that an important driver of Haitian migration is the perception that other destinations (including Brazil) will be safer compared to the gang and state-sanctioned violence in Haiti (OECD/INURED, 2017; Yates, 2021).

Coming back to South Africa, more generally, the precarious life migrants lead brings about a constant stream of worries in several aspects of life. ZAF021 gave the following example:

"Back at home, you are not worried about any possible police raid or forced repatriation. For instance, my wife is living here but without paper; I have a child and still undocumented; this is a huge psychological burden for me."

COGNITIVE ELEMENTS OF REGRET

We define the 'cognitive elements of regret' as those aspects that migrants planned, imagined, expected, and hoped for, alongside other mental processes such

as reflecting, hoping, or worrying. Although hoping or worrying might be seen as feelings, in this article we have included them under 'cognitive processes', as they always have a component of imagination for the future. Imagination in the realm of migration decision-making indeed includes a variety of mental processes, such as visualising a destination and a future life there ¹⁶. As such, regret, or its absence, can be mediated by what migrants imagined before migrating and the reality that they encountered at destination, including what they imagine might happen in the future.

As already noted above, for Ethiopian migrants this specific type of regret was mainly informed by the stark **contrast between migrants' expectations and the reality** they encountered once they settled in South Africa. Their hopes to change their lives through migration were shattered by the bleak living conditions they faced in the country of destination, which also carried a sense of disconcert at discovering they had never been told (or had never listened to) the full truth. ZAF020 described his disappointment as,

"When I came here, I dream to work hard and change myself and my family's life within a short time. When I was in school, I was an industrious man. I was participating in different clubs (HIV/AIDS, Red Cross) and [I was a] student representative too. I was very much alive back home. Here I feel like am already dead."

Many Ethiopians interviewed for the study subsequently **reflected on their life choices**, in particular dropping out of education in order to pursue migration. This chimes with previous studies across very different contexts, which have also identified dropping out of education for migration as a long-lasting regret (de Regt, 2016; Imoagene, 2017). One participant, in particular, reflected that only few people succeed in migration, especially if they migrate through irregular routes (see also Knausenberger *et al.*, 2022). A few other respondents also stated that it would have been better not to migrate even if they would have not been able to improve their life through education, just to be spared the suffering and hardship they had gone through. ZAF042 incisively stated,

"I didn't expect South Africa to be the way I experienced it here. If I had had the right information, I would have changed my mind to stay in my country."

Looking now at the mismatch between imagination and reality in relation to work, across the board, Ethiopians engaging in migration to South Africa set off to pursue a good job, both in terms of working conditions and social prestige. As discussed in

-

¹⁶ This has been discussed for some years in the literature on geographical imagination in connection to migration decision-making, such as for instance in Riaño and Baghdadi's (2007) work on the role of gender and geographical imagination in Latin American, Southeast European, and Middle Eastern women's migration to Switzerland, or in Thompson's (2017) seminal article on the importance of cultural dimensions into research concerning migration decision-making practices.

the opening of this section, it was quite a shock for participants to come to terms with the contrast between their expectations and the reality of their life as a migrant. While one respondent shared the disappointment from working in a menial job, in particular the perceived descent on the social prestige ladder, two others resented not having profited from migration as much as they should have based on the amount of effort they put into their business. And altogether, these mismatches and disappointment resulted in regret.

Finally, a couple of Ethiopian migrants shared their thoughts about the **absence of personal ties with South Africans and other residents there** and, generally, of community support. A participant (ZAF-FDG045) in one of the focus groups discussions held in Ethiopia stated that in South Africa

"[There] is no one to help you. There is nothing to eat and drink. [...] There is nothing to eat. It is better to eat the soil in Ethiopia."

These points stand out because they are in sharp contrast to the expectation of the **amicable relationships** that Ethiopians thought they would have with South Africans. Those who brought this point up, discussed the discrimination they instead experienced in South Africa and the violence committed by the native population against migrants. This insecure living condition triggered feelings of alarm and constant tension, but it also caused several participants to regret their choices. ZAF047 summarises such an experience,

"After my arrival here, I came to realize the reality on the ground is different from my expectations. There are several challenges; the natives here are not friendly to migrants and engage in sporadic mass lootings. You are forced to regress with your economic gains back to square one, even to the point that you cannot secure daily bread. Once again you start from scratch, but to face another cycle of imminent danger of being robbed and losing everything you have."

This is an important similarity with the accounts of Haitian participants who noted feelings of discrimination and inequalities based on race and/or nationality were part of their migration experience in Brazil. For instance, some participants observed they had experienced a different everyday treatment between them and locals in several areas of their lives (education, employment, healthcare), leading to feelings of sadness, powerlessness, and at times melancholy for their home country where 'everyone is black'.

'When I got to the hospital they told me: "I'll call you in a little while"... but a Brazilian came in front of me and passed, another one came and passed, a third one came and passed, and then when I went to ask they said "I forgot"; it makes you angry... and also on the streets there are people who swear

and say horrible things, when we are here to live and find a better life.' (BRA38)

These experiences came as a surprise for some participants. Existing literature has identified that some Haitians imagined Brazil as a "racial paradise" free from racial discrimination and xenophobia (Observatório das Migrações Internacionais (OBMigra), 2017). The experiences also show the challenges that the participants may face to fully integrate into Brazilian society, with a combination of discrimination, a lack of social acceptance, and inadequate knowledge about rights limiting migrants' prospects for full participation in core institutions at destination (Hendriks and Bartram, 2019)¹⁷. The connection to regret is not straightforward, nor always present, but these are the elements that ignite it when it emerges.

Despite the similarity on perceptions of discrimination between Haitians and Ethiopians in their destinations, the qualitative research with Haitian migrants in Brazil showed a markedly different picture, as participants were overall satisfied with life at destination. Several interviewees stated that **what they imagined about Brazil matched or surpassed their expectations**. This was voiced by interviewees who indicated they were achieving their migration aspirations, leading to **feelings of satisfaction**, **enjoyment**, **and accomplishment**.

"I imagined that Brazil would bring me better [economic] conditions, more opportunities to work, to study, to be able to have a professional career and a fixed income... everything I imagined I found it, even a little more... I got a job, I got a house, I managed to establish a stable life, everything was worth it." (BRA17)

"The country is incredible, beautiful, there are a lot of people, I imagined that. I wasn't mistaken, everything is the way I thought... you can get whatever you want, a car, a lot, an apartment, whatever you want you can achieve it over time by working... I'm having a good life here, and I'm really enjoying it." (BRA21)

This finding shows that satisfaction with the migration decision can emerge when experiences at destination match what migrants imagined before migration, leading to greater wellbeing than at home – and subsequently not regretting the decision to migrate. As illustrated by the quotes above, the expectations that several participants envisioned in areas such as work, education, or material wellbeing matched their

¹⁷ In their research on dignity and humanitarian action in displacement, Holloway and Mosel (2019) discuss how not been treated with respect affects' migrants and refugees' feeling of not belonging, thus affecting their dignity. They also mention self-reliance and independence as core elements of dignity. The journeys, living, and working conditions of Ethiopian migrants in South Africa and, to a lesser extent, Haitians in Brazil do not always allow them to exercise their self-reliance and independence, thus heavily affecting their dignity and potentially triggering regret.

lives in Brazil. Likewise, similarities in culture and weather between the two countries were deemed as important. Several interviewees appreciated Brazilian culture because they considered it "rich" and "enjoyable". For example, some participants referred to Brazilian music (particularly samba), others to carnival, to the football scene or to the soap operas. This finding shows that positive perceptions around culture does not only shape imaginations that inform the decision to migrate (see Guindani et al.,2024), but it can also contribute to a positive migration experience once at destination. And in cases like this, participants were less likely to feel regret.

Despite these positive elements that informed feelings of satisfaction and accomplishment, some migrants **identified a mismatch between what they imagined and their reality**. This was particularly expressed by interviewees who arrived after the 2014 political and economic crisis. They had received information portraying Brazil as a stable country with a booming economy where jobs were 'easy to find' and incomes made ends meet. However, when they arrived their financial situation was different, leading to feelings of disappointment and uncertainty.

"I can say that my expectation was not like I was going to a country that was a paradise... but seeing the economic and political crisis that Brazil is going through at the moment, I was surprised by this... Every day I think 'I wouldn't like Brazil to be in the same position as my country'... I left my country because of the crisis, so I wouldn't like to come to a country that is getting worse in that regard." (BRA46)

This mismatch was significant for the participants that brought it up because most talked about leaving Haiti to escape economic deprivation and political instability. Given the importance of these domains to the decision to migrate, they make an important contribution to how worthwhile they perceived the whole migration project to be. Their narratives further show that cognitive factors informing regret are enhanced by unmet material expectations that were at the core of the migration-decision making process (Beekma, 2015; Field et al., 2010) leading to feelings of pity and loss (Bendaoued, Navas and González-Martín, 2017) and regret. We now move on to these material aspects.

4.2 MATERIAL ELEMENTS OF REGRET

The material elements informing regret for our participants trace back to two aspects of their life: 1) the **material conditions of work in South Africa and Brazil**, 2) **bureaucratic obstacles** encountered in daily life for Ethiopian migrants. It is worth noting that migrants' working life takes up much more space in the interviewees' accounts than their personal life – this is undoubtedly because of the long hours they spend working, but it could also reflect the core aim of their

migration, that of establishing a better life and social position through a successful business or a stable job.

The literature on the working conditions of migrants has extensively documented their exploitation in what are called '3D jobs', standing for 'dirty, dangerous, and demeaning' – which matches the results of this study. Several academic and policy studies have demonstrated that the majority of migrant workers lead precarious lives working in low-paid and energy-consuming jobs, while not accessing the same level of social protection of nationals (Pajnik, 2012; International Labour Organization, 2023). The COVID-19 pandemic was perhaps the most recent moment of global reckoning regarding migrants' working conditions but also, simultaneously, their status as key workers (Fasani and Mazza, 2020). Moreover, irregular migration status is acknowledged as compounding such working conditions, to the point it has been defined as a proxy of poor occupational safety and health (Flynn, Eggerth and Jacobson, 2015) – again, resonating with the majority of data emerging from this study.

In fact, the majority of Ethiopian participants discussed regretting having migrated because they work long hours, do physically demanding jobs, and earn little in comparison to their expenses. One participant went a step further and equated those working conditions to slavery. The quotes below clearly illustrate this disappointment:

"My husband was doing this job when I came here but when I saw the work, I said, 'Is this what I came here for?' [...] The first business we were doing was door-to-door [vending]. We used to sell blankets and curtains door to door and that brought some reasons that made [me] consider returning home." – ZAF051

Most of the time, newly arrived migrants take out a loan from a member of the diaspora community, which provides them with the starting capital for their business. However, having to repay the debt while also being exposed to the constant threat of looting and robbery and, at the same time, feeling obliged and committed to sending remittances to the family in Ethiopia, means that the surplus migrants can retain for themselves is extremely low, if anything at all. One participant also pointed out that the current overall economic climate is less favourable than it used to be, which makes migrants' life more difficult.

Similar findings were observed for Haitians in Brazil. Despite a general positive perception around the improvement of their material position with the decision to migrate, interviewees reflected on their inability to make ends meet. These participants noted that their unstable employment situation. precarious working conditions and low salaries - exacerbated by the 2014 financial crisis and the

COVID-19 pandemic - shaped their migration experience in a negative way. Two participants explained their experience:

"When we work here, the minimum wage ends up being too little to survive. Because rent is expensive, food is very expensive. Observing how much money comes in and how much we spend; it becomes very difficult. Before it was easier, as everything was cheaper. The dollar rate was lower, food and everything were cheaper. But at this moment, the salaries remain the same and everything is more expensive." (BRA26)

"The worst thing is the salary in Brazil... because it's very low... Here in Brazil a person has to pay rent for him, for his family, he also has to eat, he also needs money to support his family. Brazil's money doesn't have much value. This, for me, is the worst." (BRA51)

The quotes above give a clear example of how perceptions about the material elements of migration can be complex and nuanced. On the one hand, interviewees appreciated their economic situation improved and that 'life was better in Brazil' compared to Haiti, resulting in satisfaction with having migrated. On the other hand, they also discussed the feelings of frustration that economic hardship in Brazil generated, accompanied by their inability to send remittances to Haiti (as much as desired), as observed above.

The second element informing material regret, observed primarily in the Ethiopian interviews, is the bureaucratic obstacles that migrants encounter in their life in the country of residence. In fact, most are either undocumented or relying on a short-term permit. Some participants referred to the lack of documents, adding that this burden becomes heavier after having children. Practical obstacles such as not being able to register one's business, to open a bank account, send remittances through legal means, register the birth of a child, or to enrol children in a public school, constitute expensive and limiting barriers to enjoying the "good life" the participants migrated for. These barriers, while practical, all constitute different aspects of lack of rights and protection. The differential legal and everyday treatment between South Africa citizens and Ethiopian migrants, often causes resentment and regret. For this reason, another participant described migration as degrading for someone's humanity.

"In fact, migration is not good in whatever ways. Here you are a citizen, there you are a migrant. Here you have rights, there you are not better than animal. I know for certain that in South Africa you don't have rights, even at the dogs' standard." – ZAF028

Concerning Haitian participants, they mostly did not voice bureaucratic obstacles because most interviewees had a **regular migration status**. Some of these interviewees had previously lived in other countries as irregular migrants (particularly in the Dominican Republic and French Guyana) where they had strongly perceived their lack of rights. In contrast, Brazil offered to them the possibility to regularise relatively easily, and with that to access jobs, education, and health services. In this case, their regular migration status thus contributed to a lower likelihood of regret.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Regret is a common feeling in human nature, yet it has so far found limited space in the migration academic literature. This article thus expands scholarly knowledge on regret, situating it within the growing literature on migration decision-making and migration experiences at destination. Building on the advances made by scholars over the past decades, and using the classification proposed by Hagen-Zanker, Hennessey and Mazzilli (2023), we unpack the feeling of regret experienced by Ethiopian migrants in South Africa and Haitian migrants in Brazil. Their perception of regret is informed by the multiplicity of decisions and experiences throughout their migration journey that have led them to their current place of residence, and by both subjective and material factors.

The data at the core of our study focuses on the Ethiopia-South Africa and Haiti-Brazil corridors, which are part of the MIDEQ project. We selected these two case studies because of data availability, despite the many differences between them. However, we find that comparing two corridors with geographical, political, migration policy, and socio-economic differences has allowed us to identify interesting patterns. Future research could expand the geographical focus, tracing potential similarities between different elements that shape regret across different contexts. Research could also look more in depth into intersectionality to verify whether there is a correlation between social class and age at the time of migration. Finally, it will be key to explore connections between social class, age, gender, and other relevant dimensions in the country of origin and achieved 'success' at destination, in order to provide an intersectional lens on these migration stories.

Before getting into the specifics of the research findings, it is paramount to highlight that the participants' perspectives on regret were diverse: while some people might regret the entire decision to migrate, others might regret just part of the process or have no regrets. Moreover, some participants decided to return even if there was seemingly no major problem or downside in their life in the host country. In these cases, factors that seem unimportant on the surface (e.g. longing for one's homeland and loved ones, feelings of dignity), weighed heavily in their individual decision to return, highlighting the importance of considering subjective aspects of decision-making. Our analysis also showed that regret can be informed by migrant's

perceptions of achievements at destination. In some cases, migration allowed people to reach their aspired objectives (e.g. in terms of economic wellbeing), although not always, not completely, or sometimes less than expected. Migrants might evaluate the extent to which this goal is obtained and whether it is worth staying on to keep working towards it – and regret can then form part of these considerations.

The elements influencing the decision on whether migration was worth it, whether to return, stay, or migrate onwards, and the extent to which regret comes to the surface, are many and vary in importance and intensity according to each person' life story and value system. In our data we established the relevance of two categories of elements that inform regret: a) *subjective* and b) *material* ones.

We argue that subjective elements include both i) *feelings* and ii) *cognitive processes*. The most common feelings identified were the challenges in communicating the hardship of migration, subsequent frustration, and resentment at family and friends in the home country. These feelings were, however, present simultaneously with the longing for loved ones staying back. At times, this longing generates feelings of isolation, anxiety, and powerlessness. Cognitive processes instead refer to the mental processes where imagination and evaluation are involved. Here we saw that the most common regret amongst our participants stemmed from the clash between pre-departure expectations and reality. Similarly, worries about the future and the current precarious situation, and the perception of discrimination against migrants in comparison to locals were also common amongst participants and resulted in regret.

Material elements concern the tangible aspect of someone's life at destination, such as income, job, access to healthcare or to education. These factors are distinct, but always overlap with subjective factors and it is difficult – nor necessary – to neatly tell them apart. For instance, the consequences of material regret show up as emotions alongside their material manifestations (e.g. inability to send remittances). In both corridors, migrants expressed feelings such as frustration and disappointment driven by the material conditions of work in their respective destinations. These tough economic conditions prevented some migrants from sending remittances back home, exacerbating feelings of frustration. Another important material element mediating regret was the presence of bureaucratic obstacles. For Ethiopians in South Africa, these obstacles were part of daily life due to their unstable migration status. Meanwhile, most of the Haitian participants interviewed in Brazil had a regular migration status and did not face these bureaucratic obstacles. As such, they were overall less likely to voice regret.

With this article, we brought regret and other uncomfortable feelings to the fore of migration research. We are aware that discussing this topic risks exposing it to potential hijacking by the hostile rhetoric that is currently common in the politics of many countries around the world. Over the past years, policy-making and political

rhetoric has doubled down on discouraging low-income and racialised migrants from the Global South moving to the Global North¹⁸. Giving way to misinterpretations or exploitations by those in support of increased border securitization is by no means our intention. And yet it would be naïve to think that simply avoiding this conversation can protect migrants. On the contrary, we believe it is essential that migration scholars analyse regret in migration decision-making and do so ethically, both for public knowledge and to achieve a positive change for those who experience migration.

Engaging with this work can help overcome how much of a taboo regret still is, partially because migrants invest so much both in terms of material resources, but also hopes and expectations. Exploring regret and its dynamics can serve to demystify mainstream narratives about migration and success and the stigma associated with them. By so doing, it will be possible to shed light on the fact that migration alone does not bring success, but rather success stems from the structural conditions at origin and at destination: work environment, migration policies, and social cohesion between migrants and natives, to name a few. Shifting the focus could then not only reduce the emphasis currently put on achieving a 'successful' migration¹⁹, but also point at those structural areas often constituting the roots causes of migration that should be improved through migration and other policies, first and foremost a context-specific focus on livelihoods, improved job market, and fight against corruption (Hagen-Zanker, 2024).

Similarly, we hope that this and related research can **provide relief for migrants** who feel constrained in their dialogue with those who stayed behind, opening up a more frank and freer exchange.

Finally, digging into regret and migration, and their connection to the structural element determining migrants' access to regular residency permits and social protection – or lack thereof – can show the **web of negative effects that tight border control and securitisation policies have on migrants' lives**, showing the importance of more liberal migration policies in increasing not only the material and mental wellbeing of migrants, but also livelihoods in the origin and destination countries.

-

¹⁸ An example is this video produced by a border town in Hungary in 2016: <u>Small town mayor tells migrants not to go to Hungary (youtube.com)</u>

¹⁹ Migrants do not have to put on a mask just at home, but also in the host country, where they feel constantly pressured to show their best self. See for example the book "The Good Immigrant" by Nikesh Shukla.

REFERENCES

Akintola, O.O. and Akintola, O. (2015) 'West Africans in the Informal Economy of South Africa: The Case of Low Skilled Nigerian Migrants', *The Review of Black Political Economy*, 42(4), pp. 379–398. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12114-015-9211-8.

Alto Comissaria do das Nações Unidas para Refugiado (ACNUR) Brasil (2023) *Relatório Nacional - Brasil 1º SEMESTRE 2023*. Available at: https://www.acnur.org/portugues/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/V2_UNHCR-Brasil-National-Report-Mid-Year-2023_new.pdf.

Assunção, V. (2016) 'Migrantes por amor? Ciclo de vida, gênero e a decisão de migrar em diferentes fases da vida', *Revista Estudos Feministas*, 24, pp. 63–80. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1590/1805-9584-2016v24n1p63.

Belloni, M. (2021) 'Family project or individual choice? Exploring agency in young Eritreans' migration', in *Children of the Crisis*. Routledge.

Bendaoued, A., Navas, M. and González-Martín, B. (2016) 'Balance del proyecto migratorio: el arrepentimiento de los inmigrantes marroquíes en Almería', *Revista Internacional de Estudios Migratorios*, 6(2), pp. 191–209. Available at: https://repositorio.ual.es/bitstream/handle/10835/4767/BALANCE%20DEL%20PROY ECTO.pdf?sequence=1.

Bendaoued, A., Navas, M. and González-Martín, B. (2017) 'Balance del proyecto migratorio: el arrepentimiento de los inmigrantes marroquíes en Almería', *Revista Internacional de Estudios Migratorios*, 2, pp. 191–209.

Bhattacharyya, G. (2018) Rethinking Racial Capitalism: Questions of Reproduction and Survival. Rowman & Littlefield.

Birch, M. and Miller, T. (2000) 'Inviting intimacy: The interview as therapeutic opportunity', *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 3(3), pp. 189–202. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570050083689.

Bivand Erdal, M. and Oeppen, C. (2017) 'Forced to return? Agency and the role of post-return mobility for psychosocial wellbeing among returnees to Afghanistan, Pakistan and Poland', in Z. Vathi and R. King (eds) *Return Migration and Psychosocial Wellbeing: Discourses, Policy-Making and Outcomes for Migrants and their Families*. London: Routledge. Available at: https://www.routledge.com/Return-Migration-and-Psychosocial-Wellbeing-Discourses-Policy-Making-and-Outcomes-for-Migrants-and-their-Families/Vathi-King/p/book/9780367878320 (Accessed: 28 May 2024).

Boccagni, P. and Baldassar, L. (2015) 'Emotions on the move: Mapping the emergent field of emotion and migration', *Emotion, Space and Society*, 16, pp. 73–80. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emospa.2015.06.009.

Bredeloup, S. (2017) 'The migratory adventure as a moral experience.', in *Hope and uncertainty in contemporary African migration*. N. Kleist and D. Thorsen (eds), pp. 134–153.

Bredeloup, S. (2019) 'The migratory adventure as a moral experience.', in N. Kleist and D. Thorsen (eds) *Hope and uncertainty in contemporary African migration*. Routledge, pp. 143–153.

Cazarotto, R.T. and Mejía, M.R.G. (2017) 'O papel das mulheres imigrantes na família transnacional que mobiliza a migração haitiana no Brasil', *Revista Pós Ciências Sociais*, 14(27), p. 171. Available at: https://doi.org/10.18764/2236-9473.v14n27p171-190.

Cela, T. *et al.* (2022) 'Migration, Memory and Longing in Haitian Songs', *Zanj: The Journal of Critical Global South Studies*, 5(1/2). Available at: https://doi.org/10.13169/zanjglobsoutstud.5.1.0013.

Chan, C. (2018) In Sickness and in Wealth: Migration, Gendered Morality, and Central Java. Indiana University Press.

Constable, N. (2014) Born out of place: Migrant mothers and the politics of international labor. University of California Press.

Czaika, M. (2015) 'Migration and Economic Prospects', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 41(1), pp. 58–82. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2014.924848.

Czaika, M. and Vothknecht, M. (2014) 'Migration and aspirations – are migrants trapped on a hedonic treadmill?', *IZA Journal of Migration*, 3(1), p. 1. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-9039-3-1.

Dacilien, R. and Melino, H. (forthcoming) 'Desigualdades históricas e corporais vivenciadas por mulheres haitianas migrantes no Brasil: uma perspectiva interseccional e descolonial.'

David, J.B., Rizzotto, M.L.F. and Gouvêa, L.A.V.N.D. (2023) 'Ways of living and working of Haitian immigrants in Western Paraná/Brazil', *Revista da Escola de Enfermagem da USP*, 57(spe), p. e20230030. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-220x-reeusp-2023-0030en.

Davidai, S. and Gilovich, T. (2018) 'The ideal road not taken: The self-discrepancies involved in people's most enduring regrets', *Emotion*, 18(3), pp. 439–452. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000326.

Dreby, J. (2010) 'Divided by Borders: Mexican Migrants and Their Children', in *Divided by Borders*. University of California Press. Available at: https://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1525/9780520945838/html?lang=en (Accessed: 27 November 2023).

Driessen, M. (2016) 'Pushed to Africa: emigration and social change in China', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 42(15), pp. 2491–2507. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2016.1174569.

Estifanos, Y. and Zack, T. (2020) 'New working paper: Ethiopia-South Africa migration barriers and momentum – Research and Evidence Facility: Migration in the Horn of Africa'. Available at: https://blogs.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/2020/07/17/ethiopia-south-africa-migration/ (Accessed: 2 March 2023).

Estifanos, Y.S. and Freeman, L. (2022) 'Shifts in the Trend and Nature of Migration in the Ethiopia-South Africa Migration Corridor', *Zanj: The Journal of Critical Global South Studies*, 5(1/2), pp. 59–75. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/48676306 (Accessed: 2 March 2023).

Fasani, F. and Mazza, J. (2020) *A vulnerable workforce: migrant workers in the Covid-19 pandemic*. JRC Technical Report. European Commission. Available at: file:///C:/Users/CE392~1.MAZ/AppData/Local/Temp/MicrosoftEdgeDownloads/8815a 654-1c1e-4815-899a-52b8466a22a8/online.pdf.

Feyissa, D. (2022) 'Beyond Economics: The Role of Socio-political Factors in Hadiya Migration to South Africa', *Zanj: The Journal of Critical Global South Studies*, 5(1/2), pp. 35–58. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/48676305 (Accessed: 2 March 2023).

Feyissa, D. and Garba, F. (no date) *Ethiopia - South Africa corridor brief*. Available at: https://southsouth.contentfiles.net/media/documents/MIDEQ_Ethiopia-South_Africa_corridor_brief_v2.pdf (Accessed: 11 October 2023).

Feyissa, D., Hagen-Zanker, J. and Mazzilli, C. (2024) 'The entanglement between tangible and intangible factors in shaping Hadiya migration aspirations to South Africa', *International Migration Review* [Preprint].

Field, S., Meyer, R. and Swanson, F. (2010) *Imagining the city: memories and cultures in Cape Town*. Available at: http://hdl.handle.net/11427/2419 (Accessed: 1 November 2023).

Flynn, M.A., Eggerth, D.E. and Jacobson, C.J. (2015) 'Undocumented Status as a Social Determinant of Occupational Safety and Health: The Workers' Perspective', *American journal of industrial medicine*, 58(11), pp. 1127–1137. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.22531.

Grabska, K. (2020) "Wasting time": migratory trajectories of adolescence among Eritrean refugee girls in Khartoum', *Critical African Studies*, 12(1), pp. 22–36. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/21681392.2019.1697318.

Guindani, N. et al. (2024) Imagining Brazil. Reasons to migrate, destination choice, and life in a new country in the accounts of Haitian migrants in Brazil. Working Paper. Coventry, UK: MIDEQ: Migration for Development & Inequality.

Hagen-Zanker, J. (2024) Why many policies to lower migration actually increase it, The Conversation. Available at: http://theconversation.com/why-many-policies-to-lower-migration-actually-increase-it-227271 (Accessed: 26 April 2024).

Hagen-Zanker, J. and Hennessey, G. (2021) What Do We Know about the Subjective and Intangible Factors That Shape Migration Decision-Making? A review of the literature from low and middle income countries. Oslo: PRIO.

Hagen-Zanker, J., Hennessey, G. and Mazzilli, C. (2023) 'Subjective and intangible factors in migration decision-making: A review of side-lined literature', *Migration Studies*, 11(2), pp. 349–359. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/migration/mnad003.

Hagen-Zanker, J., Mazzilli, C. and Hennessey, G. (2023) 'Subjective and intangible factors in migration decision-making: A review of side-lined literature', *Migration Studies*, 11(2), pp. 349–359. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/migration/mnad003.

Handerson, J. and Joseph, R.-M. (2015) 'As Relações de Gênero, de Classe e de Raça: mulheres migrantes haitianas na França e no Brasil', *Revista de Estudos e Pesquisas sobre as Américas*, 9(2), p. 33. Available at: https://doi.org/10.21057/repam.v9i2.17266.

Hendriks, M. and Bartram, D. (2019) 'Bringing Happiness Into the Study of Migration and Its Consequences: What, Why, and How?', *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies* [Preprint]. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15562948.2018.1458169 (Accessed: 27 November 2023).

Hernández-Carretero, M. (2016) 'Hope and uncertainty in Senegalese migration to Spain: Taking chances on emigration but not upon return.', in N. Kleist and D. Thorsen (eds) *Hope and Uncertainty in Contemporary African Migration*. 1st edn.

London; New York: Routledge, [2017]: Routledge, pp. 113–133. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315659916.

Hernández-Carretero, M. and Carling, J. (2012) 'Beyond "Kamikaze Migrants": Risk Taking in West African Boat Migration to Europe', *Human Organization*, 71(4), pp. 407–416. Available at: https://doi.org/10.17730/humo.71.4.n52709742v2637t1.

Holloway, K. and Mosel, I. (2019) *Dignity and humanitarian action in displacement*. Synthesis Report. ODI. Available at: https://odi.org/en/publications/dignity-and-humanitarian-action-in-displacement/ (Accessed: 26 April 2024).

Imoagene, O. (2017) 'Affecting Lives: How Winning the US Diversity Visa Lottery Impacts DV Migrants Pre- and Post-Migration', *International Migration*, 55(6), pp. 170–183. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.12359.

International Labour Organization (2023) Extending Social Protection to Migrant Workers: Exploratory Research and Policy Dialogue in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) Countries. Available at:

http://www.ilo.org/beirut/projects/WCMS_884951/lang--en/index.htm (Accessed: 26 February 2024).

Interuniversity Institute for Research and Development (INURED) (2020) *Post-Earthquake Haitian Migration to Latin America*. Working Paper. Port-auPrince, Haiti: MIDEQ.

IOM (2023) IOM Launches an Awareness-Raising Campaign to Prevent the Risks of Irregular Migration and Provide Information on Alternatives for Migrant Children and Youth. Available at: https://mena.iom.int/news/iom-launches-awareness-raising-campaign-prevent-risks-irregular-migration-and-provide-information-alternatives-migrant-children-and-youth (Accessed: 28 May 2024).

Jolaoso, O. and Olajimbiti, E. (2021) "Regrets for leaving the 'zoo'?": Regret construction strategies in the online discourses of Nigerian migrants', *ELS Journal on Interdisciplinary Studies in Humanities*, 4(4), pp. 515–526. Available at: https://doi.org/10.34050/elsjish.v4i4.18819.

Kalir, B. (2005) 'The Development of a Migratory Disposition: Explaining a "New Emigration", *International Migration*, 43(4), pp. 167–196. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2435.2005.00337.x.

Khan, A.A. (2018) 'From the peaks and back: mapping the emotions of trans-Himalayan children education migration journeys in Kathmandu, Nepal', *Children's Geographies*, 16(6), pp. 616–627. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14733285.2018.1479732.

Kleidermacher, G. (2016) "De la ilusión al desencanto": Senegaleses en Buenos Aires y la construcción de representaciones respecto a su migración, *Runa*, 37(1), pp. 89–104. Available at:

http://www.scielo.org.ar/scielo.php?script=sci_abstract&pid=S1851-96282016000100006&Ing=es&nrm=iso&tIng=es (Accessed: 1 November 2023).

Knausenberger, J. *et al.* (2022) 'Refugees' and non-refugee migrants' regret about migration and confidence in integration: The role of forcedness and perils before and during migration', *International Journal of Psychology*, 57(4), pp. 535–545. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12835.

Kuschminder, K., Andersson, L. and Siegel, M. (2017) 'Profiling Ethiopian Migration: A Comparison of Characteristics of Ethiopian Migrants to Africa, the Middle East and the North', in C. Udelsmann Rodrigues and J. Tomàs (eds) *Crossing African Borders: Migration and Mobility*. Lisboa: Centro de Estudos Internacionais (ebook'IS), pp. 28–43. Available at: http://books.openedition.org/cei/223 (Accessed: 2 March 2023).

Kwankye, S. *et al.* (2009) 'Independent North-South Child Migration in Ghana: The Decision Making Process'.

Landau, L.B. (2019) 'A Chronotope of Containment Development: Europe's Migrant Crisis and Africa's Reterritorialisation', *Antipode*, 51(1), pp. 169–186. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/anti.12420.

Landry, S.M. (2018) Byen venu, Uail: an analysis of the demographics and labor market integration of Haitian migrants in the Belo Horizonte Metropolitan Area. Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais. Available at: https://repositorio.ufmg.br/handle/1843/FACE-B4GNTE.

Leão, L.H.D.C. *et al.* (2018) 'La salud de trabajadores inmigrantes haitianos en Mato Grosso, Brasil: vulnerabilidades y riesgos', *Salud Colectiva*, 14(4), p. 779. Available at: https://doi.org/10.18294/sc.2018.1391.

Limbu, A. (2023) "A life path different from one of labour in the Gulf": Ongoing mobility among Nepali labour migrants in Qatar and their families", *Global Networks*, 23(2), pp. 362–374. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/glob.12396.

Mai, N. and King, R. (2009) 'Love, Sexuality and Migration: Mapping the Issue(s)', *Mobilities*, 4(3), pp. 295–307. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/17450100903195318.

Maphosa, F. and Morojele, R.N. (2013) 'Changing the Culture of Migration? Attitudes towards Education among Former Basotho Labour Migrants to South African Mines', *Africa Development*, 38(1 & 2), pp. 151–170. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4314/ad.v38i1&2.

Mazzilli, C., Garba, F. and Hagen-Zanker, J. (2023) "Becoming someone" – the imagery of South Africa as a destination by Ethiopian migrants', *Global Africa*, 4. Available at: https://www.globalafricasciences.org/issue-04/art-04-07-en.

Mehari, G. and Kaneko, M. (2022) 'Livelihoods, Dreams, and Realities: Experiences of Ethiopian Domestic Workers Returned from Host Countries', *African Study Monographs*, 42, pp. 77–96. Available at: https://doi.org/10.34548/asm.42.77.

Mejía, M.R.G. and Cazarotto, R.T. (2017) 'AS MULHERES IMIGRANTES NA FAMÍLIA TRANSNACIONAL HAITIANA NO BRASIL'.

Melamed, J. (2015) 'Racial Capitalism', *Critical Ethnic Studies*, 1(1), pp. 76–85. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5749/jcritethnstud.1.1.0076.

Miller, T. (2017) 'Telling the difficult things: Creating spaces for disclosure, rapport and "collusion" in qualitative interviews', *Women's Studies International Forum*, 61, pp. 81–86. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2016.07.005.

Ministério da Justiça e Segurança Pública/Gabinete do Ministro (2023) PORTARIA INTERMINISTERIAL MJSP/MRE Nº 37, DE 30 DE MARÇO DE 2023 - DOU - Imprensa Nacional, PORTARIA INTERMINISTERIAL MJSP/MRE Nº 37, DE 30 DE MARÇO DE 2023. Available at: https://www.in.gov.br/web/dou (Accessed: 20 November 2023).

Ministério das Relações Exteriores, G. do B. (2023) *Family Reunion - VITEM XI*, *Family Reunion - VITEM XI*. Available at: https://www.gov.br/mre/pt-br/embaixada-liubliana/servicos-consulares-1/vistos-vizumi-visas-1/family-reunion-vitem-xi (Accessed: 20 November 2023).

Ministério das Relações Exteriores and Ministério da Justiça e Segurança Pública (2023) Advancement in the Migratory Policy of humanitarian shelter and family reunion in favor of Haitians and stateless people residing in Haiti - Joint Note from the MRE and MJSP, Advancement in the Migratory Policy of humanitarian shelter and family reunion in favor of Haitians and stateless people residing in Haiti - Joint Note from the MRE and MJSP. Available at: https://www.gov.br/mre/en/contact-us/press-area/press-releases/advancement-in-the-migratory-policy-of-humanitarian-shelter-and-family-reunion-in-favor-of-haitians-and-stateless-people-residing-in-haiti-joint-note-from-the-mre-and-mjsp (Accessed: 20 December 2023).

Miura, H.H. (2014) 'The Haitian Migration Flow to Brazil: Aftermath of the 2010 Earthquake'.

Mixed Migration Centre (MMC) (2023) Southbound: Mixed migration routes, experiences and risks along the journey to South Africa. Available at: https://mixedmigration.org/ resource/southbound-routes-experiences-risks-south africa.

Muraro, A.P. *et al.* (2023) 'Food Insecurity Among Haitian Migrants Living In Brazil', *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities* [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-023-01618-1.

Netshikulwe, A., Nyamnjoh, H. and Garba, F. (2022) 'Pushed to the Margins: Ethiopian Migrants in South Africa', *Zanj: The Journal of Critical Global South Studies*, 5. Available at: https://doi.org/10.13169/zanjglobsoutstud.5.1.0007.

Nyberg Sørensen, N. (2006) *Mediterranean Transit Migration and Development:* Experience and Policy Options. DIIS · DANISH INSTITUTE FOR INTERNATIONAL STUDIES.

Observatório das Migrações Internacionais (OBMigra) (2017) *A imigração haitiana no Brasil: características sócio-demográficas e laborais na região sul e no Distrito Federal.* Universidad de Desarrollo (UDD). Available at: https://repository.iom.int/handle/20.500.11788/1368 (Accessed: 26 October 2023).

Pajnik, M. (2012) 'Migrants as Cheap Labourers in Europe: Towards Critical Assessment of Integration', *Migracijske i etničke teme*, (2), pp. 143–163. Available at: https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=91497 (Accessed: 26 February 2024).

Parreñas, R.S. (2005) 'The Gender Paradox in the Transnational Families of Filipino Migrant Women', *Asian and Pacific Migration Journal*, 14(3), pp. 243–268. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/011719680501400301.

Queiroz Telmo Romano, A. and Pizzinato, A. (2021) 'TRAJETÓRIA DE MIGRAÇÃO DE MULHERES HAITIANAS EM PORTO ALEGRE: UM ESTUDO QUALITATIVO', *Psicologia em Estudo*, 26. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4025/psicolestud.v26i0.47781.

Ransan-Cooper, H. (2015) 'Negotiating risk and uncertainty: Internal migration and rural villagers in Albay province', *Philippine Studies: Historical and Ethnographic Viewpoints*, 63(4), pp. 507–539. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.594395913552311.

de Regt, M. (2016) *Time to Look at Girls: Adolescent Girls' Migration in Ethiopia*. Geneva: Global Migration Centre of the Graduate Institute of International and Development Studies.

de Regt, M. and Mihret, F.B. (2020) 'Agency in constrained circumstances: adolescent migrant sex workers in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia', *Journal of Eastern African Studies*, 14(3), pp. 512–528. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/17531055.2020.1768467.

Riaño, Y. and Baghdadi, N. (2007) '«I thought I could have a more egalitarian relationship with a European. » The role of gender and geographical imaginaries in women's migration', *Nouvelles Questions Feministes*, 26, pp. 38–53.

Ryo, E. (2013) 'Deciding to Cross: Norms and Economics of Unauthorized Migration', *American Sociological Review*, 78(4), pp. 574–603. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122413487904.

Sabharwal, M. and Varma, R. (2016) 'Return Migration to India: Decision-Making among Academic Engineers and Scientists', *International Migration*, 54(4), pp. 177–190. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.12265.

Schewel, K. (2020) 'Understanding Immobility: Moving Beyond the Mobility Bias in Migration Studies', *International Migration Review*, 54(2), pp. 328–355. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0197918319831952.

Statista (2023) *South Africa: migrants by country 2020.* Available at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1238915/stock-of-international-migrants-in-south-africa-by-country-of-origin/ (Accessed: 11 October 2023).

Steiner, I. (2019) 'Settlement or Mobility? Immigrants' Re-migration Decision-Making Process in a High-Income Country Setting', *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 20(1), pp. 223–245. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-018-0602-0.

Thomas-Hope, E. (1980) 'Hopes and Reality in the West Indian Migration to Britain', *Oral History*, 8(1), pp. 35–42. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/40178594 (Accessed: 11 December 2023).

Thompson, M. (2017) 'Migration decision-making: a geographical imaginations approach', *Area*, 49(1), pp. 77–84. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/area.12292.

Tucker, C.M. *et al.* (2013) 'Migration Decision-Making Among Mexican Youth: Individual, Family, and Community Influences', *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 35(1), pp. 61–84. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986312458563.

Tyldum, G. (2021) 'A paradise without people. Ambivalence in representations of migration and its outcomes when Syrian refugees talk about secondary migration to Europe', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 47(17), pp. 3911–3927. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2021.1929881.

Wetherell, M., Taylor, S. and Yates, S.J. (2001) *Discourse Theory and Practice:* A Reader. SAGE.

Yates, C.Y.C. (2021) Haitian Migration through the Americas: A Decade in the Making, migrationpolicy.org. Available at: https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/haitian-migration-through-americas (Accessed: 26 October 2023).

Yimer, A. (2012) *The Ethiopian clubs: the development of social institutions and identities amongst Ethiopians in Johannesburg*. PhD thesis. University of Witwatersrand, South Africa. Available at: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/The-Ethiopian-clubs%3A-the-development-

of-social-and-Yimer/810908884c18c5e86df6748fdfce385a88a04f51 (Accessed: 10 October 2023).

Zainal, K.A. and Barlas, J. (2022) 'Mental health, stressors and resources in migrant domestic workers in Singapore: A thematic analysis of in-depth interviews', *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 90, pp. 116–128. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2022.08.004.

Zewdu, G.A. (2018) 'Irregular migration, informal remittances: evidence from Ethiopian villages', *GeoJournal*, 83(5), pp. 1019–1034. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/45117621 (Accessed: 10 October 2023).

Contact authors

Caterina Mazzilli, ODI c.mazzilli@odi.org.uk



Suggested citation

Mazzilli, C., Leon-Himmelstine, C., and Hagen-Zanker, J. (2024). Shedding light on regret in migration decision-making. Insights from the Ethiopia-South Africa and Haiti-Brazil corridors. MIDEQ Working Paper. Coventry, UK: MIDEQ. Available at: https://www.mideq.org/en/resources-index-page/shedding-light-on-regret-in-migrant-decision-making-ethiopia-south-africa-and-haiti-brazil

Cover image

Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. An outside view of returnees as they prepare to embark on a trip back home. Photo by UNICEF Ethiopia/2013/Ayene. CC BY-NC-ND 2.0.

Funding

This work has been funded by the UKRI Global Challenges Research Fund (GCRF) [Grant Reference: ES/S007415/1]. The GCRF is a five-year £1.5 billion fund aimed at addressing the problems faced by developing countries.

Licence information

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial Licence (CC BY-NC 4.0).

Under this licence, you must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license and to the MIDEQ website, if referencing digitally, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use. You may not use this material for commercial purposes.

The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of the institutions with which they are affiliated, Coventry University or the MIDEQ funders UK Research and Innovation (UKRI), the Global Challenges Research Fund (GCRF) or Irish Aid. MIDEQ funders are also not responsible for any use that may be made of the information herein.

Contact MIDEQ

Centre for Trust, Peace and Social Relations (CTPSR) Coventry University, IV5, Innovation Village Cheetah Road, Coventry, CV1 2TL UK

Tel. +44 24 7765 1182

E-mail: mideq@coventry.ac.uk